
#1d 
June 28 2007 

 
MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF CHANDLER, ARIZONA, held in the City Manager’s conference Room, Suite 
301, Chandler Office Center, 55 North Arizona Place, Chandler, Arizona, at 5:30 p.m. 
 
THE MEETING WAS CALLED TO ORDER BY MAYOR BOYD W. DUNN. 
 
The following members answered roll call: Boyd W. Dunn  Mayor 
      Lowell Huggins Vice-Mayor 
      Bob Caccamo  Councilmember 
      Trinity Donovan Councilmember 
      Matt Orlando   Councilmember 
      Jeff Weninger  Councilmember 
 
Absent and Excused:    Martin Sepulveda Councilmember 
 
Also in attendance: W. Mark Pentz, City Manager; Rich Dlugas, Assistant City Manager; Pat 
McDermott, Assistant City Manager;  Michael D. House, City Attorney; Marla Paddock, City Clerk;  
Nachie Marquez, CAPA Director; Richard Mulligan, Economic Development Director; O.D. Burr, 
Acting Management Services Director; Dan Cook, Acting Public Works Director; Doug Ballard, 
Planning Director; Dave Siegel, Municipal Utilities Director; Mark Eynatten, Community Services 
Director; Brian Bosshardt, David Bigos.   
 
1. UPDATE ON CITY COUNCIL  2007-08 GOALS AND PRIORITIES 
 
City Manager Pentz referred to the document entitled “City of Chandler Goals and Priorities 2007-
2008” and said that the directors would be elaborating on specific items submitted with the goals 
and to come up with timeframes and milestones.  He acknowledged this to be a very ambitious 
undertaking and there are items that have already been initiated.     He noted that some items 
may not be fully developed at this time.   
 
Regarding the goal to “Review and Revise the Commercial Reinvestment Program”.  Mr. Pentz 
said that more one-time money is included in the budget for the fiscal year beginning July 1. Staff 
has discussed looking at older areas in the community such as commercial corners where 
commercial development may not be feasible and approaching the property owners regarding 
redevelopment, demolition and mixed-use development.  He noted with the funds available, it will 
only scratch the surface on what it may take for significant redevelopment.  Many of the projects 
will require interdepartmental coordination and communication, which provides a good 
opportunity for the organization.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER ORLANDO asked why the prepared retail sales tax analysis is being used as 
a guideline for this program.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR DICK MULLIGAN  
explained that it shows how the retail sales tax is benefiting the community in geographic areas of 
the community in terms of volume and sales.  COUNCILMEMBER ORLANDO commented that 
there could be a corner that’s three or four years old but not doing well because there is another 
corner across the street in Gilbert doing better such as Mervyn’s on Warner Road, which has 
been around for a number of years.  He commented that the retail may be flat for the last nine or 
ten years, and asked what determines whether the old or new projects receive the funds.  Mr. 
Mulligan responded that it is important to understand what is happening with sales in the various 
areas of the community and make the determination based upon those numbers. Mr. Pentz 
added that there may be areas or corners that are underperforming and there has been some 



Minutes of the Special Meeting - Goals 
Chandler City Council 

Thursday, June 14, 2007 
Page 2  

concern about whether we could support retail on four corners.  Mr. Pentz suggested holding 
some forums or focus groups with the developers to relay our interests and concerns to them and 
give them an opportunity to express their concerns.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER ORLANDO said he understands that retail sales are an important 
component, but there are obviously other driving factors.  If money is spent in a particular area, it 
may not drive the sales in that area.  Mr. Mulligan added that we also have to consider leases 
that are already in place.   
 
MAYOR DUNN said that without researching too deeply, several retail centers could be identified 
as being in need of redevelopment such as those with a large anchor tenant but with a large 
vacancy rate in the center.  Looking at the sales tax from the anchor store, it could apply; 
however, looking at the remaining part of the retail it would reflect a negative.   
 
MAYOR DUNN said that he liked the Manager’s idea of assembling a committee to implement a 
process.  He would like to have someone from the private sector be a part of the committee.  
When the Southeast Area Plan was drafted, a zoning attorney was involved and it made a 
difference having the viewpoint of the development community. 
 
COUNCILMEMBER ORLANDO concurred and added that the timeframe of having this 
completed in six months is commendable.  
 
COUNCILMEMBER ORLANDO asked about the non-specificity of timeframes that just state fall 
or winter without specifying a month. He asked if it possible to be more definitive.  MR. PENTZ 
responded that as the projects progress, Staff will be able to provide a more specific timeframe.  
What is provided is very preliminary for discussion.   VICE-MAYOR HUGGINS added that as the 
projects proceed, more specific dates could be provided.  MAYOR DUNN said what has been 
discussed is a quarterly review and added that if a specific date is provided and that date is 
unable to be met, it would be a disappointment.   
 
MAYOR DUNN asked about those items without numbers.  COUNCILMEMBER DONOVAN said 
that each Councilmember had their top three priorities.  There were approximately 40 items within 
the top 5 dots.  Council may have not all been in agreement on the 40 items.  They were the 
result of individual interviews.  MR. PENTZ said there were items that have no dots such as the 
creative district in downtown and along the Arizona Avenue Corridor, but yet the City will be 
moving forward on them.  
 
COUNCILMEMBER DONOVAN added that another example is the initiation of the mixed-use 
redevelopment of Site 6.  Even though Council knew it was moving forward, it was important to 
list as a goal. 
 
MR. PENTZ pointed out that reviewing and revising development standards for commercial, 
residential, public buildings and rights-of-way with the goal of improving the aesthetics of the 
community and encouraging the use of shade and environmentally sensitive design received five 
Council votes for high prioritization.   
 
MAYOR DUNN said the City has great standards, but they are in need of revision.  It may not 
require a consultant study, but a comparison with other cities.  PLANNING DIRECTOR DOUG 
BALLARD said that Chandler’s commercial standards have not changed in approximately 5 
years.  Standards can be limiting, so the key is to allow flexibility and creativity in meeting those 
standards.  From a planning perspective, it will be an exciting challenge to discuss how to 



Minutes of the Special Meeting - Goals 
Chandler City Council 

Thursday, June 14, 2007 
Page 3  

promote innovation and creativity.  He added there is a need to look at City facility standards to 
be the example and not the exception.  Mr. Ballard acknowledged the need to include the private 
sector in this process. 
 
MR. PENTZ said that the design standards for redevelopment in the Historic District have been 
discussed.  It may be time to review them along with the role of the Architectural Review Board.   
 
VICE-MAYOR HUGGINS asked if any thought had been given to the east side of Arizona 
Avenue. MR. PENTZ said that area is included in the study.  There are some major issues on 
Washington Street.  ACTING PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR DAN COOK said that much of it is 
discontinuous today and the plan is to continue through some areas where it does not exist such 
as by the Salvation Army and further down just north of Kessler.  The goal was to set Washington 
up as a neighborhood access instead of using Arizona Avenue.  VICE-MAYOR HUGGINS 
commented that there are a lot of run-down commercial buildings that would have potential for 
redevelopment if there was adequate access.  MR. COOK said Staff is looking at the pattern of 
making connections between Washington and Arizona Avenue; however, there was not much 
support from the neighborhood for these connections.  VICE-MAYOR HUGGINS said he had a 
call from someone interested in one of those buildings but it would not be feasible without access 
to Arizona Avenue.   
 
MR. BALLARD said that since Arizona Avenue is the only north/south way to get into and out of 
the downtown, the desire is to create a stronger streetscape along Arizona Avenue.  He stated in 
addition, they wanted to create an enhanced transportation access system on Washington and 
California on both sides of Arizona Avenue, where traffic will be routed parallel with Arizona 
Avenue to access the businesses, which would help redevelop the area.   
 
MAYOR DUNN said the goal is to make the downtown area much more pedestrian friendly with 
citizens being able to park and walk through the downtown area and feel safe.    
 
MR. PENTZ noted on page 5, regarding Site 6, that a recommendation will come forward at the 
last meeting in June requesting the Mayor and Council authorize Staff to work with Desert Viking 
on PAD/PDP and development agreement issues relating to Site 6.  There are issues with the 
plan Desert Viking has submitted that need to be reviewed.  Staff has met with Desert Viking and 
they are very open to discussing design and planning land-use issues.  As a result, there were 
some very creative ideas that need to be explored further.  He said staff would be investigating 
land-use planning, not only with Site 6, but the surrounding area.  How Site 6 develops may 
depend on what the future development plans are for the surrounding areas.   
 
Mr. Pentz asked COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTOR MARK EYNATTEN co comment on the 
Special Event development.  Mr. Eynatten stated the Jazz Festival has been a very popular 
downtown event.  There have been funds added to the budget to bring in more national 
entertainment.  Entertainment thus far has been primarily regional.  He reported that staff was  
exploring having more large events such as those held at the San Marcos.  The biggest limitation 
on a downtown event is parking.  The additional parking at the high school may help draw more 
people across Chandler Boulevard before events at the Center for the Arts.  He said that in the 
event they don’t expend the funds they have set aside, they are exploring a recommendation that 
was given to them by Councilmember Donovan called Playful City, USA.  One of the 
requirements of having that designation was having a Playful City Event.  One of the events the 
City does not have is a Fall signature event and staff is looking at expanding the Fall Rhythm 
Festival and incorporating a Playful City event making it a day-long.  He noted their primary focus 



Minutes of the Special Meeting - Goals 
Chandler City Council 

Thursday, June 14, 2007 
Page 4  

was to expand the Jazz Festival.   VICE-MAYOR HUGGINS said the main complaint he receives 
is when there are events downtown the businesses aren’t open.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER DONOVAN said she has seen that with the downtown art walk, merchants 
have seen that they are missing an opportunity and more are staying open.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER WENINGER asked the status of the balloon festival.  MR. EYNATTEN said 
that there have been no outside groups expressing interest in sponsoring the festival.  
COUNCILMEMBER WENINGER asked if it could be sponsored by the non-profits and whether or 
not the City would be supportive of such an event.  MR. EYNATTEN said that they would support 
it and said that there are some balloon promoters in the valley and they could put them in touch 
with the non-profits.  Councilmember Weninger suggested combining an event like that with 
another one.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER DONOVAN said that she has heard good comments about the jazz festival 
and that if a national act is added and events are held at the Center for the Arts, it is important 
that the downtown remains accessible and things remain free.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER WENINGER passed on kudos to Community Services for bringing Bill Cosby 
to the Center for the Arts.  
 
MR. PENTZ said that follow-up was being done this summer with ASU and the U of A this 
summer.  The incubator study will also be released publicly this summer which creates some 
partnering efforts with the Research Park.  If a decision is made to pursue the Research Park, it 
could be costly and it could be a challenge finding a partner who will participate for the long term.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER ORLANDO asked if ASU and the U of A have room to expand or are they 
maxed out with their out-reach programs.  MR. MULLIGAN said that both have room for 
expansion and it is a matter of developing a concept and approaching them right away and 
understanding what the opportunities are.  MR. PENTZ said that about the time Mr. Mulligan 
came to work for the City, a key executive at ASU had expressed they had a lot of “irons in the 
fire” and are concerned with getting more involved; however, Mr. Pentz said if the right 
opportunity was presented, we may be able to increase their participation.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER WENINGER asked about the existing pedestrian/bikeway system and why  
sidewalks aren’t wider in areas where we have a larger right-of-way.  MR. COOK said the attempt 
was to keep the pedestrians and bikes separate because of the possibility of collisions.  Bike 
riders seem to favor the roadway because of sidewalks and driveways.  A contract to update the 
Transportation Plan will be coming forward at the next Council meeting, which will also address 
the bike/pedestrian issue.  COUNCILMEMBER WENINGER addressed the issue of completing 
sidewalks before a project is completed.  He gave the example of current sidewalks and suddenly 
it ends because there is no development at that particular location.  Mr. Mulligan said that has 
been discussed with the legal department who has determined that the sidewalk should not be 
developed on undeveloped property.  It becomes an ADA issue whereby if the City develops a 
sidewalk at one undeveloped site, it would have to be done in all undeveloped areas.  
 
COUNCILMEMBER WENINGER asked if we front the money for the sidewalk development and 
get reimbursed when the property is developed.  Mr. Cook said we have not looked at 
reimbursements, but it is a possibility.  COUNCILMEMBER DONOVAN added that we would 
have to consider the age of the sidewalk when the area was developed because if it needed to be 
replaced, the developer would not want to reimburse the City and repair the sidewalk.  Mr. Cook 



Minutes of the Special Meeting - Goals 
Chandler City Council 

Thursday, June 14, 2007 
Page 5  

said the issue also arises of where to put the sidewalk.  It could be put adjacent to the curb, but 
planning says it is better to meander it.   MAYOR DUNN commented that when he took the bike 
ride from Chandler City Hall to Tempe City Hall, it was alarming how things did not connect.  He 
looks at it from a family perspective where a family wants to ride to a shopping center on arterial 
streets, but questioned if the parents would feel comfortable doing that.  He shared that his belief 
is that all sidewalks should be no less than 8’ wide and away from the street.  MR. COOK said 
that a key thing in the Transportation Plan is to come up with the CIP to address connectivity of 
bike lanes.  
 
MR. PENTZ next discussed the goal of establishing stronger relationships with the Pinal County 
communities and the Gila River Indian Community.  He noted that Mayor Dunn has reached out 
to Governor Rhodes and met with him last May regarding the casino issue.  He also noted with 
help from COUNCILMEMBERS SEPULVEDA and ORLANDO, Mr. Pentz followed up with 
regards to changes in community managers and reported that Mayor Dunn appointed one of 
those managers to Chandler’s Transportation Commission.  He cited the need to be thinking 
about connections with the area to the south.  MAYOR DUNN said that communication has been 
excellent.  One thing that has happened in the Gila River Community is that they have changed 
their staff to that with more professional credentials and are willing to work with Chandler’s Staff.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER ORLANDO asked what is being done on an on-going basis regarding 
discussions with Tempe and Scottsdale in creating and promoting a technology corridor for the 
east valley.  MR. MULLIGAN said that it is targeted to things such as Coronet and getting 
corporate listings together or by visiting major trade shows.  He said that Christine (MacKay) has 
been working with Scottsdale and Tempe people.     
 
MR. PENTZ said that pages 1 through 8 of the memo address strategic and long range goals and 
organizational priorities.  The General Plan Update is moving forward.  COUNCILMEMBER 
DONOVAN asked how citizen advisory committees would be appointed.  MR. PENTZ and MR. 
MCDERMOTT said that they believed that last time there is a mix of representatives that staff 
develops and the Mayor brings forward to Council for approval.   
 
Mr. Pentz said the Council had been briefed on the Conference Center Study and the proposed 
design contract for the City Hall will tentatively be coming before Council in July.  The master plan 
development for water/wastewater reclamation facilities is currently under contract.  The Museum 
design will be completed in conjunction with the Site 6 redevelopment.  He noted the MOU’s for 
the latest labor negotiations are on the regular agenda for approval at tonight’s Council meeting.  
The employee at-will issue will be deferred to a later date.  There will be a briefing on the HPO 
training program in the fall.  
 
COUNCILMEMBER ORLANDO asked about the HPO program and the reference earlier of tying 
it in to the goals.  MR. PENTZ explained that the purpose of the HPO program is to try to change 
organizational culture so that more employees are engaged in their jobs, that employees 
acknowledge that they have a leadership responsibility at every level, and more teamwork both 
departmental and between departments. For many of the goals, there are multiple departments 
involved.  He reported that an all-day retreat was held for senior-level Staff where a number of 
organization-wide issues were identified that need to be addressed such as budgeting, the 
performance evaluation system, position descriptions, etc.  He commented that Brian (Bosshardt) 
is taking the lead in working with the individual departments and directors in implementing the 
program. 
 



Minutes of the Special Meeting - Goals 
Chandler City Council 

Thursday, June 14, 2007 
Page 6  

COUNCILMEMBER DONOVAN asked if it would be beneficial for Council to participate in some 
type of HPO training or activity.  MR. PENTZ replied that if there isn’t, there should be.  He stated  
Tony Gardner from the University of Virginia trained 240 Chandler employees and Council should 
have been invited to attend part of the presentations to obtain an understanding of what the 
training was meant to accomplish.   
 
VICE-MAYOR HUGGINS asked if a briefing would be of any value.  MR. BOSSHARDT said that 
there are a number of City-wide teams working on some of the support processes referred to by 
Mr. Pentz.  He commented that Council would receive a briefing in the fall on some of the 
processes that have been implemented.  COUNCILMEMBER DONOVAN said that it is important 
for Staff to understand what the employees are going through, but asked to consider if is there a 
benefit to Council having the same training.    
 
MR. PENTZ relayed a story told by a new employee working as a maintenance worker at one of 
the pools who said he was asked his opinion and stated that in his job, he did not think anyone 
would care what his opinion was.  Mr. Pentz conveyed that is the type of solicitation from 
employees that is being presented through the HPO training.  
 
MR. PENTZ continued reviewing the goals.  He noted the water/wastewater rate study is on the 
Council agenda for discussion tonight.  Contracts will also be awarded for the impact fee updates.  
He noted that page 13 refers to the goal of ensuring that the engineering and planning divisions 
are in sync with regard to creative development ideas.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER ORLANDO summarized that it is important that the message be relayed that 
these goals are everyone’s goals and not just the Manager’s or Council’s.   
 
Adjournment:  The meeting was adjourned at approximately 6:36 p.m. 

 
 
 
ATTEST:  __________________________  ______________________________ 
                         City Clerk                                                   Mayor 
 
 
Approved:  June 28, 2007     
 
 
     CERTIFICATION 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing minutes are a true and correct copy of the minutes of the 
special meeting of the City Council of Chandler, Arizona, held on the 14th day of June, 2007.  I 
further certify that the meeting was duly called and held and that a quorum was present. 
 
 
 
DATED this __________ day of _____________, 2007. 
 
 
                __________________________ 
                                                                    City Clerk 
 


	Return to Agenda

